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FOREWORD
by

GENERAL SIR ROB LOCKHART, k.c.B., C.LE., M.C.
Commander-in-Chief Indian Army,
15 August-31 December 1947

Much has been written about the Partition of India in 1947 and
about the tragic events that occurred at that time; but this book
is, I believe, the first to contain an account of some of these
events by a British officer who actually served with troops dealing
with the widespread and violent disorder which took place in the
Punjab that year.

Brigadier Bristow was a regular officer of the Indian Army.
After an interesting account of his early days as a cadet, and
then as an officer in his Indian Regiment between the two World
Wars and during the Second World War, he devotes the second
part of his book to the tasks confronting the Army in the Punjab
in 1947 and how they were carried out.

These tasks were complex and unpleasant. The Army had to
try to protect all who were in danger of loss of life or property;
to rescue refugees, to safeguard communications and important
installations; and to restore law and order. All this had to be done
at a time when the civil and military administrations of the
two new Dominions were undergoing reorganisation necessitated
by Partition. Public servants of every grade—policemen, railway
personnel, post office workers—were on the move : Hindus and
Sikhs leaving Pakistan for India, and Muslims leaving India for
Pakistan. There were thousands of refugees fleeing in both direc-
tions from one country to the other.

Brigadier Bristow makes it clear that there were some instances
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of troops allowing their religious feelings to influence their actions,
but that the majority of the Indian Army units did their duty
splendidly I know well. I believe that the discipline and devo-
tion to duty of the Indian soldiers, still mostly under the com-
mand of their British officers, prevented even greater disasters
than those that occurred.

Brigadier Bristow believes that had Partition been deferred
until, say, April 1948 the tragedy in the Punjab would not have
occurred. It is true that many officers who served in India, in-
cluding myself, would have agreed with him. Had officials of
every grade in the civil services, and all the personnel of the
armed services, been in position in their respective new countries
before Independence Day, it seems there would have been a
better chance of preventing widespread disorder.

On the other hand there are many, including some best
qualified to know, who consider that to have deferred the grant
of Independence to a later date would have resulted in even
greater disasters and many more casualties than actually occurred.

I enjoyed reading this book and consider it a valuable contri-
bution to the history of India and to that of the Indian Army. I
hope it will be widely read.

R. M. M. LoCKHART
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INTRODUCTION

Book I describes life in the old Indian Army of British officers
and Indian soldiers, both in peace and war, from 1918 until the
independence of India and Pakistan in 1947.

During the Raj the martial classes who composed the Indian
Army were among the most loyal friends of the British, probably
because there are few closer ties than those made by serving in
the same regiment, or sharing a trench or a bivouac. Although I
have mentioned several of the martial classes, I have attempted
to describe in detail the history and character of only one group,
the Dogras, pronounced Dohgras, with whom I spent most of
my service. The history of the Dogras explains their ancient feud
with the Muslims in the struggle for power and territory in the
Punjab, which broke out anew in 1947 when British influence
ended.

Book II gives an account of the Communal War which
followed independence, and deals particularly with the life sav-
ing operations of an Indian Infantry Brigade, with a few British
officers, during appalling massacres in the Punjab.

Most of the key figures who planned the transfer of power in
India and Pakistan have endeavoured to justify their policies
in their autobiographies or through their biographers. But the
wisdom of those policies can only be judged objectively when
persons at the receiving end, such as myself, record their ex-
periences in trying to put them into effect.

As a Brigade Commander during the Communal War my re-
sponsibility was confined to a relatively small area, and so the
conclusions I reach at the end of the book may be regarded as
parochial. Nevertheless, consideration should be given to the
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views not only of those high in authority, but also of those on the
spot and nearer events.

Unfortunately there is a lack of eye-witness records by those
who were present during the massacres in the Punjab. As his-
torians cannot make fair judgments if secrets of the past remain
untold, I have tried to add my own evidence before it is too late.
My account is also a tribute to members of the British rearguard,
who have received little credit for saving many thousands of
lives.

India Office Library and Records, London, were able to supply
few details concerning the Punjab conflict, but I am very grate-
ful to the staff for their courtesy and help in providing other in-
formation. The regimental histories of the old Indian Army end
at the time of independence, and therefore contain little about
the communal war that followed. To verify facts I have had to
rely mainly on brother officers present at the time, who have
helped generously. Their experience and views have greatly
influenced the conclusions I have expressed.

Particularly I thank the following. Appointments shown were
those held in 1947.

Mr. I. E. Jones, C.1.E, Commissioner Jullundur Civil Division;
Mr. D. Gainsford, C.I.E., Deputy Inspector General Police Jul-
lundur Civil Division; Major General B. W. Key, C.B., D.S.O,,
M.C.,, Commander Lahore Area Pakistan; Brigadier J. B.
Keenan, Commander 43rd Lorried Infantry Brigade, later
Liaison Officer between East Punjab Area and Lahore Area;
Lt.-Colonel P. S. Mitcheson, D.S.O., O.B.E., General Staff
Officer 1, East Punjab Area India; Lt.-Colonel J. L’A. Bell,
M.B.E., Commander 3rd Royal Bn. Frontier Force Regiment;
Lt.-Colonel C. J. Boulter, M.C., O.B.E., Commander 3rd (Para)
Bn. 1st Punjab Regiment; Major P. M. C. Hussey, Central India
Horse; Major E. C. Gleeson, 2nd Bn. Dogra Regiment; Major
D. H. Donovan, M.C., 1st Bn. 9th Gurkha Rifles; Major D. H.
Jones, Brigade Major, 11th Indian Infantry Brigade; Major
C. H. Williams, Staff Officer 11th Indian Infantry Brigade.

I am grateful to Mr. W. A. Barnes, late Principal, Govern-
ment College Lyallpur, Punjab, for checking the manuscript.
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His intimate knowledge of the Punjab has been most help-
ful.

I thank the Dowager Countess Wavell for kind permission to
quote from Field Marshal Earl Wavell’s Foreword to Fourth
Indian Division.

R. C. B. BrisTow






BOOK ONE
1918-46
Lafe in the Old Indian Army in Peace and War
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CHAPTER I

RETURN TO INDIA

In 1918 the First World War was in its last year. Like my father,
Major Robert Bristow, I had decided to be a regular soldier, and
was studying in the small Army Class at King’s College School,
Wimbledon, for the army entrance examination for regular com-
missions. In April, thanks to my tutors, I was successful in my
first attempt.

Throughout the war my father held an adminstrative appoint-
ment in France, as owing to an injury and age he was no longer
fit for active operations, and we saw him briefly only once a
year. During the four war years my mother Maud courageously
looked after her children alone; the others were my younger
brother Basil and sister Una the youngest. Our home was in
New Malden, Surrey, then surrounded by green fields and known
locally as The Village, but now grown into a large London
suburb.

Air raids on London occasionally brought the war closer.
During air alarms the family took shelter under the stairs, but as
an embryo regular soldier, I did not consider that in keeping with
my future profession, and equipped with an old steel helmet
and binoculars given me by Ralph Eales kept watch in the
garden. Ralph, my mother’s youngest brother was a field artillery
officer in France, spent his short leaves with us and was our
wartime hero.

My air observer role worried my mother, but gave comfort
to the younger children who felt safe so long as the sentry did
not report aircraft overhead. Occasionally I spotted aircraft flying
high, but even if hostile the danger to Malden was slight, as their
target was London. Nevertheless the alarm sirens drove all to
cover and disrupted life.

B
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Having served in Egypt, South Africa, Somaliland, India and
France, my father had wide experience overseas, and advised me
to join the British Army, for in India he saw the red light for
Britons, and forecast the end of the Raj before I should complete
my career. While respecting his kindly advice I was attracted to
the land of my birth, having entered this world in the North-West
Frontier Province in 1900, and had a strong desire to serve in the
Indian Army. My father generously accepted my wish provided
I applied to join a Gurkha regiment, for in India to him Gurkhas
were the nearest approach to British soldiers. Before taking the
entrance examination I therefore gave the Indian Army as my
first preference. When the results appeared showing that I had
been accepted I was delighted.

War casualties created an urgent need for young officers, who
were useless in the Indian Army until they could speak the
language of their men. In peace time Indian Army cadets went
to the Royal Military College, Sandhurst, for eighteen months,
and then were attached to a British battalion in India for a
year, during which they studied Urdu. As war demands could
be met only by reducing that period drastically, cadets joined
an Officer Cadet Battalion in England for three months, and
then a Cadet College in India for six months, either at Quetta
or Wellington. By studying Urdu at the college they were fit to
go straight to an Indian unit on being commissioned.

The group I joined carried out preliminary training with an
Officer Cadet Battalion at Catterick in Yorkshire. Chosen from
men who had shown courage and leadership on the battlefield,
the other cadets of the battalion were the pick of the British and
Dominion armies, many with decorations for bravery. Two com-
panies of British cadets, and one company of Dominion cadets,
were composed of men in their middle twenties, whereas in con-
trast with those veterans, the Indian Army cadets comprising the
fourth company were mostly straight from school. We were still
in Britain among familiar sights and people, but were soon to
sail for a very different world.

Prior to departure for India we enjoyed a few weeks’ leave,
which passed all too quickly, and in September I said good-
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bye to my mother, brother and sister; my father was still in
France.

Basil, five years younger than myself, was left with a damaged
heart after rheumatic fever, and died when fifteen. His loss was
a deep sorrow to the family. Una was determined to follow
her father and brother into the army, qualified as a nurse at
Guy’s Hospital, London, and joined Queen Alexandra’s Imperial
Military Nursing Service. She married an army doctor, Captain
(later Brigadier) Charles Marsden, R.A.M.C., and so, like her
mother, spent many years within sound of the bugles.

On the journey to India our first adventure was several days
in a troop train crossing France to Marseilles, from where we
sailed to Karachi. In the Mediterranean a few submarine scares
occurred, but escorting Japanese destroyers saw us safely through
to Port Said. Regarding the Japanese as staunch allies, I little
imagined that in days to come I should be engaged in a bitter
war against them. The train journey across the Sind Desert was
hot and dusty, but when we climbed into the mountains, Quetta
was pleasantly cool at an altitude of 3,600 feet. The scene was
very different from green England, as except for limited areas of
cultivation, the Quetta plateau was arid and surrounded by bare
rocky moutains, with the predominant colour grey-brown like our
khaki uniform.

Whereas at Catterick, in a hutted camp, our accommodation
was similar to that of other ranks, here it was intended for officers,
as the Cadet College occupied the premises of the Staff College,
which had closed down for the duration of the war. Four cadets
occupied a comfortable bungalow, in which each had a separate
bedroom and bathroom, thus ensuring privacy and a quiet study
for work. The public rooms were comfortably furnished and
included a good library.

The instructional staff were carefully chosen British officers
of the Indian Army, and sergeant instructors of the British Army,
who created a happy atmosphere, and strove to turn us into
good subalterns. My platoon commander was Captain (later Lt.-
Colonel) Gordon Borrowman of the 4th P.W.O. Gurkha Rifles.
Our friendship continued after Quetta, and included our wives
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when he married Gem McLeod, and I married Elsa Fairfax. He
was a fine artist whose sketches were famous in India; some
of his portraits of Indian Army soldiers, especially of his beloved
Gurkhas, hang in the National Army Museum.

For six months our lives revolved around the parade ground,
weapon ranges, riding school, lecture halls, the munshi, games,
competitions and examinations, all of which I enjoyed except the
last. To learn Urdu, the common language of the Indian Army,
we were grouped in small classes under a munshi (Indian
teacher). Pure Urdu was spoken in the United Provinces, and
related dialects in adjacent areas, but in distant provinces quite
different languages existed. In order that men from different
parts could work together a common army language was neces-
sary. For most cadets progress in learning Urdu was slow until
they joined their regiments, and had to communicate and work
by using the vernacular.

At games I played for the first eleven hockey team, but my
favourite sport was riding. There was keen competition to get
into No. 1 Ride, for its members enjoyed the privilege of hunt-
ing with the Quetta Hounds. We were trained by British sergeant
riding instructors from the Cavalry and Royal Artillery, whose
methods were tough and humour in keeping. When jumping, a
favourite command was, ‘Cross stirrups, knot reins, fold arms’.
Some of the meaner old troop horses knew the order well, and
seized the opportunity to get rid of the weight on their backs,
by a sudden hesitation or swerve before a jump.

On one of those occasions a cadet in my ride became unseated,
and was hanging on perilously, with his arms around his horse’s
neck, and one foot over its back. He was making a brave attempt
to return to the saddle, when the harsh voice of the instructor
yelled, ‘Mr. . . . why don’t you fall off like a gentleman, sir, in-
stead of hanging on like a blasted monkey?’ The disheartened
acrobat gave up and rolled in the dust. We had many good
laughs in the riding school, and in turn all provided the
cause. What a lot the modern army must miss without the
horse.

The best riders were gradually grouped in No. 1 Ride, and 1
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was fortunate to be chosen. About half way through the course
the Chief Riding Instructor, Lt.-Colonel Naylor, gave No. 1
Ride a severe cross-country test to prove our fitness to hunt, and
after he was satisfied, briefed us on the strict code of riding to
hounds. Parading for the hunt, and trotting off to the meet,
was always a happy occasion.

The field was composed mainly of officers of the Quetta
garrison together with some of the wives. The hounds were
thoroughbred English foxhounds, and their quarry jackal, which
is bigger and stronger than a fox. Much of the country over
which we galloped was hard and stony, and the worst obstacles
were water channels at the bottom of deep nullahs, which en-
tailed sliding down a precipitous slope, a standing leap over the
water, or into it, and a clamber up the other side. On one hunt
we galloped twelve miles, and ended with one jackal, one hound,
one whip and two officer cadets, of whom I was one; all the
others had fallen by the way. By then we were starting to climb
the hills on the edge of the Quetta plateau, with the hound on
the tail of the jackal which occasionally turned its head to snarl.
The hound was either too tired or too frightened to close, and
when the jackal disappeared over the brow of a ridge the whip
called off the dog, which looked most relieved. That jackal
deserved to live, though it was probably back at night looking
for somebody’s chickens.

The only event in which I distinguished myself at Quetta was
the mounted and dismounted weapon’s competition; the weapons
being rifle, revolver, light automatic, sword and lance. I was
placed second to Fred Daw, a veteran of the Australian Army.
Several members of the Dominion forces were given cadetships
at the college, and most of them were Australians. In the com-
petition I came first in the mounted tent-pegging with a lance,
and first in the mounted sword-versus-sword, in which the riders
wore a leather jacket, and a face and head guard surmounted
by a wood and paper plume. Two riders with wooden swords
opposed each other, and the winner was the first to cut off his
opponent’s plume. I got through several rounds just because the
opposing horse would not face a brandished sword, and gave its
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rider little chance. From the hunters in No. 1 Ride I had dis-
covered a wonderful charger, and kept the secret very much to
myself, as the grab for good horses was ruthless. He never failed
to leap past the opposing horse close enough to give me an easy
cut at my adversary’s plume, and far from being frightened
seemed to enjoy the game.

The last stage of the competition was to clear six jumps, after
each one stab a dummy with a sword, and then dismount and
knock down six falling-plates with a revolver. On arriving at
the plates I was ahead on points, but shot badly and dropped
to second place.

At the end of the final competitions and of the verbal and
written examinations we awaited our fate. Meanwhile we were
instructed to apply for three regiments in order of preference,
helped by a booklet describing the classes recruited in the Indian
Army, and the class composition of each regiment. Enthusiastic-
ally I perused the booklet in which all classes and regiments were
described in proud terms. With envy I scanned the cavalry regi-
ments, considering life ideal in a world of horses and polo, but,
without private means, out of the question; however, I discovered
that the officers of two Gurkha regiments did play polo. Though
most Gurkha stations were high in the hills with no facilities for
polo, the 2nd and 9th had their home on the plains at Dehra
Dun, where polo was played. As first choice I applied for the
9th Gurkha Rifles.

Competition was always keen for the popular Gurkhas, and
vacancies difficult to get. Apart from a family connection, which
I did not possess, the only hope was to pass out higher than my
rivals. To my relief I had graduated 19th out of 150, been com-
missioned into His Majesty’s Land Forces as a 2nd Lieutenant,
with effect from 15 April 1919, and attached to the 2nd Bat-
talion 9th Gurkha Rifles at Dehra Dun; permanent postings
were not being made until the wartime army had been reduced
to peace establishment. I bought myself a black star for each
shoulder, as worn by rifle regiments, which I considered more
distinguished than the general pattern of gilt star.

The 9th Gurkha Rifles, raised in 1817, had a fine record and
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proud traditions, and even with my slight experience I recog-
nised a good regiment. The 2nd Battalion had recently returned
from Mesopotamia, after two and a half years’ active service;
most of the officers and men were on leave, and present were
only a few officers headed by Major H. Mullaly. Within a year
Herbert Mullaly died from pneumonia, during operations in
Waziristan, a sad loss to the regiment. Their medals and decora-
tions marked the officers as veterans of the First World War, in
which the regiment had won twelve battle honours in France
and Mesopotamia. I was aware of a wide experience gap be-
tween the others and myself, very different from life in Quetta
where we were all beginners.

To the Gurkhas, who were not Indians but Nepalese, I took
an immediate liking. Short in stature, strongly built, with semi-
Mongolian features, they were quick to smile or laugh. They
loved being soldiers, and if discipline means cheerful obedience
of orders, no soldier possesses this quality more than a Gurkha.
I was very disappointed at first that I could not communicate
with them intelligently, for neither could they understand my
smattering of Urdu, nor I their Gurkhali. Because of the difficulty
of teaching Urdu to Gurkhas, they were an exception in being
permitted to use their own language. As a matter of urgency
I engaged a munsh: to teach me.

The battalion was organised with a headquarters and four
companies. In headquarters were four British Officers and four
Viceroy’s Commissioned Officers (V.C.O.s). The latter held the
ranks of Subedar-Major, Subedar and Jemadar, and corres-
ponded roughly to Warrant Officers in the British Army, with
the additional honour of being saluted by the men. At the top
were the Commanding Officer, and his deputy the Second-in-
Command. The Subedar-Major was adviser to the C.O. on per-
sonal matters concerning the Gurkhas, and, as the senior V.C.O,,
held in great respect. Battalion staff work was divided between
the Adjutant and the Quartermaster, each assisted by a V.C.O.,
the Jemadar Adjutant and the Jemadar Quartermaster. The

fourth V.C.O. was the Signal Jemadar.
Each of the four companies had two British Officers—the
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Company Commander and Company Officer. Thus a battalion
required twelve British Officers, but about six more were in-
cluded on its list, as roughly this number were absent on staff
and other appointments. During the summer leave season, with
many absent, even a junior subaltern often found himself in
temporary command of a company, which consisted of three
platoons, each of 35 men commanded by a V.C.O. Later there
were changes in organisation, with the addition of specialist
officers in headquarters.

In Gurkha regiments, before independence, the King’s Com-
missioned Officers remained British, but in the rest of the Indian
Army, after the First World War, Indians were given similar
commissions in increasing proportion. At first in small numbers
they went to Sandhurst and Woolwich, and when commissioned
were called King’s Indian Commissioned Officers (K.I.C.O.s). To
increase the number in 1932, the Indian Military Academy
was established in Dehra Dun, and those commissioned from
there were called Indian Commissioned Officers (I.C.O.s). Thus
there were three classes of commissioned officers—the British
known as B.O.s—Indian of equivalent status known as I.C.O.s
(including the early K.I.C.O.5)—V.C.O.s already described, of
junior status.

Between the two great wars the 1.C.O.s were posted only to
certain selected units, which were gradually to become com-
pletely Indianised. The Second World War began with about
3,000 B.O.s and 500 I.C.O.s, but segregation of I1.C.O.s in
certain units ceased, and they were integrated throughout the
army except in Gurkha regiments. I did not serve in a battalion
with I.C.O.s until 1938, and so for many years worked only with
B.Os and V.C.Os.

Soon after I joined the 2/9th my company commander went
on a course, leaving me temporarily in command, and I found it
stimulating to have responsibility for the first time. The train-
ing at Quetta helped with my duties, but much could be learned
only from experience, and the advice of the Subedar, or senior
V.C.O. of the company. As the hot summer season had begun,
training was confined mostly to the parade ground and firing
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ranges, and took place in the early morning and late afternoon.
Office work was done before lunch.

Games in the evening provided the main recreation, when the
men played football and basket ball, and young officers were
expected to take part or referee. Tennis, squash and golf were
available at the officers’ club, but my passion at that time was
riding, with an eye to polo. I was surprised and disappointed to
discover that it would cost more to play polo in infantry, than in
Indian cavalry.

In cavalary an officer received an allowance to maintain two
horses. Troop horses in Indian cavalry, in height from about
142 to 15°1 hands, were small enough for polo, and those suit-
able were chosen and trained as polo ponies. In addition to any
private ponies a cavalry officer possessed, he could augment his
string with troop horses, by paying a modest insurance charge to
Government. With troop horses it was even possible to mount
some V.C.O.s in stations where players were scarce. When play-
ing in tournaments all trained troop horses were pooled, and the
best allotted to the team. In the cavalry cheap horses made polo
available even for the poor, but they did not exist in the infantry.
However, as a start, I was determined to acquire one pony, and
to be content with two chukkas, though most riders played
four or six; two eight minute chukkas were the limit for one
pony.

A beginner is helped by playing on a trained pony, but such an
animal was beyond my slender resources, and I therefore de-
cided to acquire a young animal and train it myself. The best
were well-bred imported Australian ponies, but even these were
too expensive, and I had to settle for a six-year-old country-bred
stallion, which turned out a great disappointment.

Before being mixed with other ponies he had to be gelded,
which operation seemed to add deep resentment to his bad
temper, probably arising from generations of harsh treatment.
I did all possible to win his affection and improve his temper, but
kindness and rewarding lumps of sugar had little effect. Because
of his hard and unbending character I called him Flint. Strictly
according to a text book and with much enthusiasm I marked
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out a riding school, began his training, and gradually intro-
duced him to a polo stick and ball; but he always hated the
sight of them.

Slow progress was being made with the munshi and Flint, the
reluctant polo pony, when, in the middle of May, the battalion
was ordered to mobilise for a move to the frontier. The Afghans
had invaded India, to begin the 3rd Afghan War, and we were
sent to Kohat, the forward base for operations in the Kurram
valley. Events preceding the war, and closely connected with it,
had seriously disturbed the peace in India.

In February 1919, Amir Habibullah Khan was murdered, and
succeeded by his third son Amanullah Khan. During the First
World War Habibullah had kept Afghanistan neutral, despite
strong pressure by the Turks, a War Party of Afghans, and
Indian revolutionaries conspiring in Kabul. With other aspirants
to the throne, and suspected of complicity in the murder, the new
Amir was not acceptable to all his subjects as an absolute
monarch. There arose a typical mediaeval situation, in which an
insecure king sought to strengthen his position by a successful
war; if he could regain the North-West Frontier Province lost
in 1820 to the Sikhs, his throne would be safe.

The British were exhausted after the First World War, in
which the Empire had suffered a million killed. The British
and Indian armies were in process of demobilisation and re-
constitution, with many troops still overseas. In India the
authorities were fully occupied with unrest and insurrection,
especially in the Punjab. That took the usual form of rioting,
murder, arson and the destruction of government property, such
as police stations, post offices and the railway. With hardly
enough troops in India to deal with internal security, war with
Afghanistan was most undesirable. Amanullah and the War
Party were encouraged by mounting insurrection in India, and by
the assurance of Indian revolutionaries in Kabul that massive
support awaited the Afghans in India, with insurgents tying
down the Indian forces.

The climax of the insurrection was the unfortunate shooting
at Amritsar on 13 April 1919. Following two days of violent
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rioting, arson and the murder of isolated Britons, a vast mob,
defying a stern ban, assembled at Jallianwala Bagh, a walled
space inside the congested city. Brigadier-General Dyer with
fifty Gurkha and Indian soldiers with rifles, and forty Gurkhas
armed only with kukris (knives) entered the Bagh which had few
exits.

In a confined space, the troops were hemmed in by a hostile
mob of several thousands, the nearest of them within eight or
nine yards, and by a sudden rush the soldiers could have been
overwhelmed. Dyer ordered his men to fire, killing 379 and
wounding about 1,200. The isolation of the small party of troops,
and the dangerous proximity of the mob, probably had some in-
fluence on the extent of the firing.

Dyer believed that he was dealing not merely with riots but
with insurrection, or war against the Crown, which, as the use
of minimum force had so far failed, could be put down only by
strong action. The shooting immediately ended the insurrection.
That helped the army to reinforce the frontier against the Afghans
and to end quickly a war, which otherwise might have spread,
lasted a long time, and cost thousands of lives. Dyer was among
those sent to the frontier where he played a notable part.
Although the Amritsar shooting helped to restore peace, the
Hunter Parliamentary Committee of Enquiry condemned Dyer
for not using minimum force; and he was relieved of his com-
mand. Twenty-eight years later the Punjab was ablaze, I held
the same position as Dyer—Commander Jullundur Brigade—
and like him had to face the mob.

Whereas a soldier does not hesitate to shoot in war, he hates
no duty more than shooting at fellow citizens, even when these
are rioting. As normally the rioters cannot shoot back, to the
soldier his own action seems cowardly. However a government
has a duty to stop arson, looting and murder, and, as a last
resort, minimum shooting was considered justified. The terrible
cost of evading this duty was shown in 1947, when the new
governments of India and Pakistan failed to act against murder-
ous mobs, and half a million people, including small children,
were slaughtered cowering behind the doors of their homes. In
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those terrible killings and atrocities Amritsar was again in the
lead.

From the Jallianwala Bagh tragedy lessons were learnt both
by the Government and the rebels. Whereas communal fights and
riots recurred periodically, anti-government agitation tended to
take the form of Mahatma Gandhi’s non-violent non-co-
operation; a way of defying law and authority with the advantage
of not risking lives. The Government was determined to prevent
a repetition of the Bagh, and so a strict drill was laid down for
troops called out in aid of the civil power, to ensure that they
would use only minimum force, and not be carried away by the
heat of the moment. Briefly the procedure and drill were as
follows.

Responsibility for calling out troops rested with the civil
authority. If the police were unable to control a rioting mob,
threatening life and property, a magistrate would ask the officer
commanding the troops on the spot to disperse them, which he
confirmed in writing by signing a form. If possible, the troops
would run out concertina barbed wire to their front so as to
avoid a hand-to-hand encounter. A red banner was unfurled
between two poles warning the mob to disperse, or else the troops
would fire. Attention was drawn by the sounding of a bugle, and
the warning repeated several times through a megaphone by the
magistrate. If the mob still refused to withdraw, the officer had
the duty to disperse them by using minimum force.

Warnings were seldom ignored, but if they were the officer
would normally order one man to fire one round at the ring-
leader. If that failed to disperse the mob, fire would gradually be
increased by a few rounds at a time, and stopped immediately
the mob showed signs of moving away. Empty cartridge cases
would be collected and counted to prove the use of minimum
force, for a court of enquiry would certainly follow. As soon as
possible the wounded had to be given first aid and taken to
hospital. In the absence of a magistrate, troops could use force
only in self-defence or to defend the lives of other citizens.

Following introduction of the drill, shooting incidents became
rare, and although we often practised the drill I was not present
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during civil disturbances until after independence in 1947. Events
then are described in later chapters.

In 1919, had the insurrection been allowed to spread, and to
continue into May, it would have coincided with the Afghan
invasion, tied down troops, and obstructed communications to
the frontier. Fortunately it was put down before the invasion.
Without the help of the insurgents in India it was even more
important for Amanullah to raise all the frontier tribes in a jehad
(holy war), and so cause wide dispersion of British forces. To do
this the Afghans endeavoured to rouse the Pathans to action
from Chitral to Baluchistan, and to encourage them crossed the
frontier at several places. The full support of the tribes was likely
only if Amanullah achieved a spectacular initial success, which
he hoped to attain with his two main attacks against the Khyber
Pass and the Kurram Valley.

West of the Khyber the Afghans crossed the frontier on 4 May,
and occupied the village of Bagh, hoping to join forces with
the Mohmands to the north and Afridis to the south, but the help
of the tribesmen did not extend beyond harassing British com-
munications. Landi Kotal, the forward Brtish post, was
garrisoned only by frontier militia, who were weakened by the
desertion of their Afridis. Regular reinforcements were rushed
up to Landi Kotal, retook Bagh on 11 May, then crossed the
frontier and occupied Dakka on 17 May.

The northern attack had ended in rapid defeat. Afghan pres-
tige suffered a further blow on 27 May, when the British stormed
and took the large Afghan fort of Spin Baldak on the Baluchistan
front. To impress the tribes Amanullah’s only hope now rested
with General Nadir Khan, who had concentrated in the province
of Khost two cavalry regiments, fourteen battalions and forty-
eight guns.

Part of that force was detached to attack British posts in the
Upper Kurram valley. With the main body Nadir Khan left
Matun on 23 May, and advanced down the Kaitu valley; a
clever strategic approach, taking advantage of the Khost salient
into India. With no opposition he reached Spinwam, from where
he could turn north and cut off the Upper Kurram, or turn
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south and cut off the Upper Tochi. Had he chosen the Tochi and
seized Idak, all Waziristan would have rallied to him. By mov-
ing away from Waziristan and towards Thal, he lost the close
support of thousands of Wazir and Mahsud tribesmen, who,
without a supply system, could not fight far from their own
territory.

Thal was defended by only four Indian battalions, four moun-
tain guns and a squadron of cavalry. The Afghans approached on
27 May, accompanied by several thousand tribesmen. Occupying
all the surrounding hills, for four days Nadir Khan shelled Thal
and made nibbling attacks, dilatory tactics which lost him the
great advantage of strategic surprise. With considerable
superiority in numbers and artillery, had he made a concerted
attack Thal might have fallen.

The 45th Brigade, under Brigadier-General Dyer, advanced
from Kohat to relieve Thal with four battalions, including one
British, the 1/25th London Regiment (T.A.), and made contact
with the Afghans on 1 June. Despite intense heat, the relief
column, together with the beleagured garrison, attacked resolutely
for two days, and on the third day the Afghans began a disorderly
retreat up the Kurram valley; they could not reach Afghanistan
quickly enough. The invasion was over, an armistice declared,
and on 8 August a peace treaty signed.

The failure of the Afghans had a sobering effect on them, and
as a result the British enjoyed peaceful relations with Afghani-
stan during the last 28 years of the Raj. The tribesmen were
bitterly disappointed at the weak performance of the Afghans,
and parts of the frontier remained unsettled, especially Waziri-
stan, where the Wazirs and Mahsuds refused to make peace.

Dyer was acclaimed for his decisive victory, but then had to
face the Hunter Committee, whose verdict on the tragedy at
Amritsar deprived him of a promising future. Obviously the role
of soldier had suited him better than that of policeman.

The 2/9th Gurkhas arrived in Kohat on 31 May to join the
16th Indian Division under Major-General Sir William Beynon.
As the 3/9th Gurkhas were in Thal the 2nd Battalion had a
personal interest in the relief. The 45th Brigade had just left to



RETURN TO INDIA 31

relieve Thal, and expecting to follow, we were very surprised
when Dyer defeated the Afghans in two days, and disappointed
at not taking an active part.

On arrival at Kohat I was {ull of military ardour, but my
hope to see action for the first time was not realised. The bat-
talion was ordered to provide a cipher officer at Divisional Head-
quarters, and the lot naturally fell to the junior subaltern.
Intensely hot in June, I lived and worked in a small stifling room
with no fan, in which the furniture consisted of a camp bed and
table with a hurricane oil lamp, which gave little light. On call
for 24 hours, often when I got to sleep at night, a signaller
would arrive with another message for coding or decoding. Re-
luctantly I would emerge from under a mosquito net and return
to the glimmer of the oil lamp, and the mosquitoes. As many of
the messages were about Nadir Khan, at least I was kept well
informed of his movements, and particularly enjoyed his scurry
from Thal.

That brief taste of staff work made an unfortunate impression,
for I decided never to be a staff officer, preferring an active,
outdoor life with a battalion. Years later I realised that even in
the army the pen is mightier than the sword, and senior rank
difficult to attain without staff experience. Anxious for the future
I then decided to take the Staff College examination just before
reaching the age limit, but I had missed the opportunity for
adequate preparation. A last minute cram enabled me to qualify,
but not high enough for me to obtain a vacancy in a highly
competitive examination.

My happy release from ciphers came in mid-June, when the
battalion was ordered to Hangu, half way to Thal. Relieved in
order to accompany it, my first task was to load stores and
baggage on the troop train. When the work was completed I
felt extremely ill; I was examined by a medical officer and sus-
pected of having cholera, as there was a serious epidemic of that
disease, with several deaths occurring every day. Showing sus-
picious symptoms, I was put in an isolation tent.

Very ill, I was not helped by the exhausting heat, from which
the tent offered little protection. However, after a few days I
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improved; which indicated that the complaint was not cholera
but dysentery. That permitted my being moved to the improvised
hospital building, which provided more protection from the
scorching sun, and in shade temperatures which reached 120°F,
To relieve congestion the hospital discharged me a few
weeks later, still far from fit; and my return to Dehra Dun
coincided with that of the battalion. The 3rd Afghan War was
over at a cost of 236 British and Indian killed, 615 wounded and
566 deaths from cholera. Luckily the fire was put out before it
became a conflagration.

Had I been given a few weeks’ convalescence in the cool of
the hills, 1 might have made a complete recovery. But on the
plains in the humid heat of the monsoon the dysentery returned.
As no hospital for officers existed in Dehra Dun, I remained in
the bungalow, with my bearer, Indian servant, doing his best
as nurse. I was also greatly helped by the kindness and cheerful
company of Lieutenant John Williams, who shared the bungalow.
My condition got steadily worse, and at the end of a fortnight,
the battalion medical officer sent me up to the British Military
Hospital in Mussoorie.

Medicine had not then found the answer to dysentery, starva-
tion seemed to be the main part of the cure, and after a long
period of very restricted diet I was quite emaciated. In the
Second World War I contracted dysentery on a few occasions,
but modern sulpha drugs cured me in a few days. The disease
is endemic in India due to poor sanitation and many flies, and in
such countries this modern cure is a great blessing.

In the Himalayas, overlooking Dehra Dun, Mussoorie was a
popular summer resort at an altitude of 6,600 feet, with tempera-
tures degrees cooler than down below. At last I was in a hospital
with a trained staff, even to British Q.A. nurses, who looked very
smart in their red capes. This was the service which my sister
joined later.

With facilities for proper diet and treatment I soon began to
recover, and on discharge my doctor had the good sense to recom-
mend me for a month’s sick leave in Mussoorie. Most anxious to
get fit, I walked and rode as much as possible and, when stronger,
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played tennis. At the beginning of October I rejoined the 2/9th
in Dehra Dun, somewhat ashamed at being off duty for so long.

Following the intense heat of summer the plains were becom-
ing cooler. The monsoon rain had ended, and even at midday the
temperature was bearable. Officers were beginning to return from
long leave, and for me there were new faces in the mess. With
lumps of gur, brown cane sugar, I hurried to Flint’s stable. When
bought he looked thin and underfed, but now he appeared too
fat and under exercised, for the syce (groom) had obviously done
no more than give him a gentle stroll each day. Later in the
riding school I found he had forgotten the little that I had taught
him, and was more obstreperous than ever.

The C.O., Lt.-Colonel H. F. Collingridge, was back from
leave, and, as I had not met him, was summoned to his office,
where in my best starched uniform I presented myself. Lying on
the table was my report from the Quetta Cadet College, which
he discussed with me. He appeared satisfied. He then gave me a
short sermon on the proud traditions and customs of the 9th
Gurkha Rifles, which, though inspiring, added to an uneasy
feeling that I had made a bad start, by spending three months
out of five on the sick list. I hoped for better luck.

The munshi returned and congratulated me on remembering
a few sentences of Gurkhali. I had only been back a fortnight try-
ing to pick up the threads, when the peace was again disturbed,
and it seemed I was not destined to stay with the 2/9th. The
north-west frontier had remained uneasy after the Afghan War,
and the Mahsuds and Wazirs were carrying out murderous
raids across the border. Operations to curb their activities were
unavoidable. A field force was being assembled, and the regiment
was ordered to send two subalterns as reinforcements to Bannu;
the choice fell on John and myself.

It was now a year since I had arrived in India, long enough to
form first impressions. The intense heat of summer had been
a shock, which I had not enjoyed. The hot season on the plains
did not suit the health of many Britons, including myself, for I
never became acclimatised; I normally felt well in April and
worn out by September. Annual summer leave of two months,
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spent in the hills, provided some relief, but the best tonic was
eight months’ long leave in Britain, about every four years.

At that time India had a rapidly increasing population of over
three hundred million, divided roughly into Hindus 68 per
cent, Muslims 22 per cent, and the rest Sikhs, Buddhists,
Christians and others. These communities lived separately, and
showed no desire to intermarry or integrate. In the past there
had been integration, but this had been at the point of the sword,
and by the abduction of women, a form of barbarism which I
was to witness during the Punjab massacres of 1947. The purest
descendants of the Muslim invaders are to be seen in the north-
west, now West Pakistan, among the Pathans and Western Pun-
jabis, who have a Middle East appearance. In the rest of India
Islam had spread by conversion and mixed marriages, so that
the Muslims there are more closely related in race to the
Hindus.

It was generally possible to distinguish the different com-
munities by their dress, especially the headdress and hairstyle.
The easiest to recognise was the Sikh, with his long hair and
rolled beard. The Muslim favoured a trimmed beard and in cer-
tain regions bobbed hair, whereas the Hindu generally shaved
and kept his hair short with a top-knot. Except for the Sikh, the
distinctive hair styles tended to disappear in later years with the
adoption of western haircuts. The northern Muslim generally
wrapped his turban round an embroidered kullah (skull cap), or
wore an Astrakhan cap, while the Hindu tied his turban without
a kullah or favoured a Gandhi cap. It was noticeable that the
Sikhs, like men of mediaeval times, sometimes carried swords.
Ostensibly a religious symbol, this mode of dress also had prac-
tical value in matters like getting the best seat on a bus or
train, as unarmed rivals tended to give way.

The only Buddhists I met were on the Tibetan border, and are
described later. The small Christian community were divided into
Indian converts, and Anglo-Indians of mixed blood. The latter
were western in dress and habits, and generally found employ-
ment in the junior civil service, police and railway. Mixed
marriages between Britons and Indians were rare, but they must
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have been more prevalent in earlier times, when slow travel made
India more remote from Britain.

Purdah or the seclusion of women was very marked, especially
among the Muslims of the north-west. Women were less re-
stricted further east and south in the predominantly Hindu
regions, which showed that there they were safer, with less need
for the protection of purdah. The confinement and restriction
imposed on women, especially in a stifling climate, were un-
healthy and depressing. With purdah and little or no education,
their talents were wasted and their seclusion did much to hinder
progress in India.

There were many rich men in India, apart from the fabulously
rich maharajas, rajas and nawabs who ruled much of the
country and maintained lavish courts. A prosperous middle class
also flourished, such as merchants in the towns and big landlords
in the country. The wealthy lived comfortably in big houses
with servants, and could be seen of an evening taking the air
in their horse carriages. But at the bottom of the social scale,
most of the people laboured in town and village for little reward,
and lived in abject poverty. The main reason for poverty and
hunger was the birth rate, with which national resources could
not keep pace. Teenage marriage was general, and with no
birth control families were very large.

The caste system also prevented people from improving their
lot, by restricting the enterprise of the lower castes and the un-
touchables. I had a distressing experience of this caste system.
The bearer I engaged in Dehra Dun, a low caste Hindu, was a
splendid man who had served with officers of the 9th for many
years, and the Gurkhas had never objected to him. But when I
later joined a high caste Hindu regiment, since Dogra mess
orderlies objected to working with him, I was forced to dis-
charge him. Strangely, they had no objection to working with a
Muslim. Despite their harsh attitude the orderlies were kindly
men, so was the battalion Pandit or priest. They apologised to
me, but said they had no choice.

In many areas food production depended on seasonal rain
which was unreliable, and good harvests alternated with bad.
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The Government carried out many projects to improve and in-
crease agriculture, notably the extensive irrigation canal network
in the Punjab, which utilised the water of the great rivers and
was the largest canal system in the world. The desert to the
south was turned into fertile farmland, and thousands of ex-
soldiers and others settled there, but the demand for land always
remained unsatisfied.

The tropical climate with its intense summer heat tended to
slow up activity and productivity. The relatively small revenue
of the country made it impossible to finance a welfare state to
alleviate the suffering of the poor, except in genuine famine.
Generally the only insurance for the poor was their own,
most noble, joint family system, whereby relations helped each
other.

For us life in most ways was comfortable, but in some respects
primitive. The officers’ mess was a substantial building, and, as
the permanent home of the regiment, comfortable and attractive.
As usual in India there were too many servants; the permanent
mess staff, officers’ personal bearers who waited at table, and
soldier orderlies acting as wine waiters.

The bachelors shared a bungalow, in which each had a bed-
room and bathroom, with cheap furniture hired from the bazaar.
Cold water in an earthen jar was provided from a well by the
bhist: (water carrier), and hot water was heated outside in a tin
can on an open wood fire. The toilet consisted of a commode,
which was manually cleared to an incinerator by the mehtar,
who also did the sweeping.

As a subaltern I had two whole time servants, a bearer and a
syce, and shared the bhisti and mehtar with others. Their wages
were low, but each did very little work. One man could easily
have done the work of all four, and increased his remuneration
accordingly, but the caste system prevented this, and it would
have meant fewer jobs, where much unemployment existed.
Domestic service with the British was popular, with no shortage
of applicants, and generally a happy relationship existed be-
tween master and servant, with loyalty on both sides.

A matter I had hardly considered before joining the army was
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finance, but now responsible for my own cheque book, I realised
I was not in a lucrative profession. On Rs425 a month, about
£28, it was barely possible to pay rent, servants, hire of furniture,
mess and club bills, to buy clothes and uniform, and to keep Flint.
I was determined to remain solvent, but clearly could not save
for home leave. At that time we had to pay our own fares by
sea, and without some money in the bank leave was impossible.
It seemed that the only place where a subaltern could save for
home leave was on the frontier, away from the heavier expenses
of a peace station, and with field service concessions such as free
rations for self, servant and horse. That is where I was going.

CHAPTER 11

LIFE ON THE NORTH-WEST FRONTIER

On the British side of the Indo-Afghan frontier, from Chitral
to Baluchistan, stretched a belt of independent tribal territory,
varying in width from 10 to 100 miles. The boundary between
that and administered territory was known as the administrative
border. In the North-West Frontier Province the border roughly
coincided with the edge of the Indian plain, and the start of the
hills and mountains rising to Afghanistan. The people who lived
both sides of the border were the Pathans, who spoke their own
language Pushtu. Those who lived on the administered side were
called the cis-border Pathans, and those on the tribal side the
trans-border Pathans.

From time immemorial the hungry hillmen had raided the fer-
tile farmlands of the plains, and to prevent that by administering
up to the Afghan frontier would have meant disarming the trans-
border tribes against bitter opposition. Having disarmed them,
it would have been necessary to protect them against the armed
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Afghan tribes by closely defending the Afghan frontier, which
instead of solving the problem would have merely pushed it
further west, at far greater cost and loss of life.

The rugged hills and mountains beyond the border were as
ideal for defence as was Monte Cassino in the Second World
War, with similar natural strongholds everywhere. In defending
them a million elusive warriors would never have tired, and
when hard-pressed would have taken refuge in Afghanistan, only
to return again and again. For strategic reasons the half-dozen
mountain passes between Afghanistan and India had to be held,
but the occupation of all tribal territory would have meant a
costly increase to the peace-time British-Indian Army. In the
event of an international threat, as happened in two world
wars, such an army of occupation would have been tied down
far from the decisive battlefields. Against incessant raiding a
cheaper safeguard had to be found.

The system adopted was to provide normal government and
administration up to the border, beyond which the tribesmen
were free to manage their own affairs, and helped with allow-
ances on condition that they kept the peace. If the agreement was
broken by persistent raiding, punitive action was taken. This
appears more like a deal with criminals than a relationship be-
tween nations, yet offered a humane solution. Without help the
trans-border Pathans could not subsist on their barren land, and
for centuries had plundered the cis-border villages, but when
British rule was extended to the border, protection of those
villages had to be provided.

Independent to run their own affairs, and aided by allowances,
it was hoped the tribesmen would leave their neighbours in
peace. The arrangement was preferable to military occupation
of tribal territory, and forced administration of a hostile people,
but met with varying success, and least in Waziristan. With a
criminal gang protection money does not always ensure peace,
and violence breaks out either because the gang wants excite-
ment or more money, as happened with the Pathans. Life was
dull in the mountains, and new generations of restless young
warriors were always anxious to show their mettle and emulate
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their fathers. They were led astray by the old Pathan proverb:
‘Nothing pays better than a good raid.’

In early days the punitive expeditions had to set off from
administered territory following the rough camel tracks, and
to reach the offending tribe often meant long marches through
the territory of others, with the undesirable result of extending
the conflict. It therefore became necessary to build strategic roads,
and place striking forces in areas which refused to desist from
raiding. The tribes were still left free to manage their own
affairs, and the primary aim of the striking force, like that of a
police force, was not to punish but to deter. Even when crimes
were committed, fines, in money and rifles, were preferred to the
last resort of destroying villages.

The forces across the border had a dual role; some defended
the passes into India such as the Khyber and the Kurram, and
others occupied strategic points to deter or act against raiders.
Those forces consisted of the regular army, and lightly armed
scouts or militia capable of dealing with small hostile groups.
The scouts were permanently resident, unlike army units which
were constantly changing. Apart from reducing the number
of regular troops, scouts, composed of Pathans from both sides
of the border, were more acceptable to the tribesmen, and so a
pacifying influence. Unfortunately the trans-border Pathans
in the scouts deserted on occasions with their arms to join the
hostiles, their kith and kin, which meant that Pathan scouts alone
could not be trusted to police tribal territory.

The tribes with whom I became acquainted inhabited Waziri-
stan and the Kurram Valley. In the Kurram were the friendly
Turis and Bangash. Because of their reliability the Turis were
strongly represented in the Kurram Militia, and the Bangash
recruited both in the army and the militia.

Very different were the tribes in Waziristan to the south,
which during my service was the storm centre of the frontier,
due to the warlike character of the two main tribes, the Wazirs
and Mahsuds. Two smaller tribes the Dauds and Bhitannis

gave little trouble.
The smallest tribe, the peaceful Dauds, inhabited the lower
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Tochivalley, were harassed by the surrounding Wazirs, and there-
fore well disposed towards the British because of their protection.

Bhitannis lived in the foothills between the rivers Tochi and
Gumal, a very unhealthy malarious tract, which explains why
they were not a robust tribe. Inclined to peace they were careful
not to provoke or resist Mahsuds passing through their territory
to raid the settled districts.

The country of the Wazirs, the largest tribe, stretched in a
semicircle from the Tochi to the Gumal. They gave constant
trouble by raiding into the plains, sniping, ambushing troops, and
occasionally by more concerted attacks.

Arch brigands of the frontier and the scourge of Waziristan
were the Mahsuds, who, surrounded by the others, lived in the
central highlands, where, above the malarial belt, they enjoyed
a temperate and invigorating climate. The troops in that area
at Razmak, altitude 6,500 feet, were the healthiest in India, and
equally fit for the fray were their neighbours the Mahsuds. Held
in fear and distrust by all, with savage cruelty they raided the
settled districts, and with equal zest plundered their neighbours.

As Brigade Intelligence Officer at Razmak in 1934, I was
occasionally sent on a reconnaissance with an escort of Mahsud
khassadars. They were tribesmen hired for various protection
duties, with their own arms and loosely organised under their own
leaders; a surrender to blackmail by hiring the men who would
otherwise shoot at you. They were jovial, swashbuckling charac-
ters, with a cut-throat appearance and unreliable.

As Mahsuds were notoriously treacherous, with a record for
murdering British officers, I regarded those escorts with some
suspicion. I remember once asking a member of my escort what
he did for a living, and without a moment’s hesitation he said,
“Steal”. 1 remarked that the prospects seemed poor in such a
barren country with everyone carrying a rifle. He replied, “The
prospects are not bad if you cover a wide field. I steal from
the Wazirs, the Bhitannis, the Powindahs (Afghan nomads), the
villages in the plains and”, with a rougish grin, “from the
British”. He was not an isolated criminal in an otherwise orderly
society, but a typical Mahsud.
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In appearance I could not distinguish between a Mahsud and
a Wazir. Tall and lean with hawkish features, they grew beards
and wrapped their bobbed hair in greasy turbans. A loose shirt
hung down to their knees over baggy cotton trousers gathered
at the ankle, and on their feet were rope or leather sandals, ideal
for moving fast on steep slopes. Their dirty clothes were perfect
camouflage against the grey-brown background of the rocky
hills, on which they were as nimble as goats. They liked fancy
leather bandoliers and belts, for holding cartridges and a dagger,
and to be without a rifle was to be undressed.

In religion they were Muslims, but, being illiterate and led by
mullahs or priests with little education, interpreted their creed
in a wild and fanatical way. Perhaps the most popular expres-
sion of their faith was a crusade against the infidel; Briton, Hindu
or Sikh, but they could also turn against the neighbouring tribe
over the ridge, or even the next-door family, appearing to live
in a world of hate and feuds. Provided they turned towards
Mecca five times a day and prayed, and met the demands of
their mullahs, they were free to thieve and murder as they
pleased. In murdering an infidel there was positive merit, and
according to fanatical mullahs this was a passport to paradise.

The greatest menace to the life of the Pathan was badal, the
law of retaliation, or the blood feud, which could exist between
tribes, sub-tribes (khels) or families. Between tribes two common
causes of dispute were grazing rights and water, and when in
Razmak, sometimes we heard or saw Mahsuds and Wazirs
shooting it out, after both had driven their flocks towards the
same grazing ground. In a trivial dispute between neighbours,
a fatal rifle shot might follow an argument, and the death could
only be expiated by counter-murder. There were no police or law
courts in tribal territory, and rough justice was enforced only
by badal, which could continue until a family was wiped out,
unless a settlement was made by a jirga (council of elders), on
agreement to pay compensation. The best way to lessen violence
within the clan was by uniting against a common enemy; another
tribe or the British.

A comparison is interesting between the life of a cis-border



42 MEMORIES OF THE BRITISH RAJ

Pathan and that of his cousin across the border; between the
blessings and burdens of civilisation and those of savage free-
dom. Taxes were the biggest burden of the cis-border Pathan,
but for those he received many benefits and services. Against the
raider he was closely defended by the Frontier Constabulary,
and further afield by the Army and Frontier Scouts. From
criminals he was protected by the police and the law courts,
though he too had to observe the law. Hospitals, medical
surgeries, schools and colleges were provided, not on the scale
of a modern welfare state, but to the extent India could afford.
Steady improvement was made in facilities such as roads, rail-
ways and canals. Employment was available in government
services, the security forces and private fields. The cis-border
Pathan, as a member of a civilised state, had the rights and
liabilities of a citizen.

Some of those benefits appealed to the trans-border Pathan,
but the price was too high, and he would rather fight to the
death than pay taxes. A Mahsud or Wazir did not want to pay
for security, for it was more manly to provide it himself; why
bother with the law courts, when you could shoot your enemy?
After a raid it would be humiliating to have his house searched
for loot, or to be taken to jail in handcuffs. Today his attitude
towards education has changed, but then it was considered more
important to breed fine outdoor men, who could move fast on a
hill and shoot straight.

Generally tribesmen were work shy, though some would accept
casual labour for road making and maintenance, but much more
popular than work on the roads was employment as khassadars
to protect them; the very men who otherwise would attack the
traffic were paid, virtually bribed, to guard it. Thus with tribal
allowances, khassadar’s pay and road contracts, the tribesmen
were subsidised to keep the peace, and in the circumstances
it was the cheapest solution and perhaps the kindest.

On leaving the plains and entering the hills there were striking
differences, noticeably that every man carried a rifle and a
dagger, as if he feared for his safety. The friendly looks of India
were left behind, for here they were piercing and hostile. To
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discourage highwaymen the hills on either side of the road
were piqueted by troops or scouts. Creaking bullock or buffalo
carts were no longer seen, and their place was taken by pack
camels. Cattle were rare, as only hardy animals, like camels and
goats, could live on the coarse and scanty grazing. The only
habitations were fortified villages, army camps, and stone forts.

A tribal village looked like a cluster of miniature mediaeval
forts, for each house was designed not only to contribute to the
protection of the whole village, but also for defence against its
next-door neighbours. A few rooms, a small courtyard and a
dominating rifle tower were enclosed by high walls, in which
the rifle loopholes also served as windows.

Watch towers were built even in the fields, for men were an
easy target when working, which they did with loaded rifles
slung on their shoulders, or stacked within immediate grasp. To
keep watch a sentry would be seated near by or in a watch
tower, scanning the hills for any suspicious movement. Across
the border a different world existed, a dangerous one, in which
it was necessary not only to be armed but loaded.

In 1919 Waziristan was even more hostile than usual, for
the Mahsuds and Wazirs had promised to co-operate with the
Afghans in the holy war. Attacks in the Tochi and South
Waziristan tied down British troops, as did raids into the districts
of Bannu and Dera Ismail Khan. In trying to stir up the frontier,
the Afghans certainly succeeded with the Mahsuds and Wazirs,
for they proved more effective as warriors than the Afghans them-
selves.

The tactics of the tribesmen followed the usual pattern. By
attacking and ambushing small army or scout posts and patrols,
they added to their store of arms and ammunition. There was a
great increase in raiding, and in six months from May to
November the Mahsuds and Wazirs carried out nearly two
hundred raids in the border districts, killed over two hundred
peaceful villagers, and wounded many more. The situation called
for drastic action.

In May to avoid unnecessary dispersion during the encounter
with the Afghans, isolated scout posts in both North and South
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Waziristan had been withdrawn. In the north those posts included
Datta Khel in the Upper Tochi, and Spinwam linking the Tochi
and Kurram. Disturbed by the withdrawals, the Wazirs in the
Tochi Scouts deserted with their arms and joined the hostiles,
but fortunately that force had a strong element of loyal cis-
border Pathans and therefore remained effective.

The situation in the Tochi was helped by the metalled road
from Bannu to Dardoni, which enabled regular troops to be
located at strategic points, where within striking distance of
Wazir villages they acted as a deterrent. Their presence also had
a steadying influence on the scouts, as was shown when their
Wazirs deserted. During my stay in the Tochi the regular troops
were disposed with an infantry brigade at Bannu and a battalion
forward at Saidgi, the first staging post to Dardoni; a forward
brigade at Dardoni with a battalion back at Idak, the second
staging post. Staging posts were necessary in the days of animal
transport.

Though the Tochi up to Dardoni had been brought under
control, elsewhere in Waziristan the situation had deteriorated.
In South Waziristan the withdrawal of forward scout posts was
regarded as a sign of weakness, and ended disastrously. The
posts evacuated at Wana and in the Gumal valley were garrisoned
by South Waziristan Scouts, of whom the majority were Wazirs
and Afridis. There were no supporting regular troops in the
area to exercise a restraining influence, and when orders were
received to withdraw, the Wazirs and Afridis mutinied.

With their escape cut off eastwards towards the border, eight
British officers and a few hundred loyal scouts under Major G. H.
Russell set off for Fort Sandeman in the Zhob valley, hotly
pursued by a swarm of Wazir and Mahsud tribesmen. During
the long and exhausting withdrawal in intense heat, five British
officers were killed and two wounded. Major Russell, who con-
ducted the operation with the greatest skill and courage, was
lucky to survive.

Because of their unreliability the South Waziristan Scouts were
disbanded, but a few years later were reconstituted with a
stronger element of loyal cis-border Pathans. After his experience
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at Wana Major Russell would have been understood for quitting
Pathans, yet he undertook the task of reconstitution.

In August 1919, when peace was signed with the Afghans, the
Wazirs and Mahsuds were bitterly disappointed with their
allies and determined to fight on. Regarding the withdrawals
from Datta Khel and Wana as major victories, they were well
pleased with themselves. Through desertions and encounters
they had greatly increased their armament of modern rifles and
reserves of ammunition, and numerous raids across the border
were proving fruitful and exciting.

Having disposed of the Afghans the army now had to contend
with the tribes in Waziristan, and planned to deal first with the
Upper Tochi Wazirs, then the Mahsuds in the centre, and finally
the Wana Wazirs in the south. If the Mahsuds were beaten there
would be little resistance from the Wana Wazirs.

To impress the Tochi Wazirs it was decided to show them that
we could occupy the Upper Tochi at will. A mobile column was
therefore assembled at Dardoni, a few weeks after I arrived in
the Tochi, as the small striking force there was not strong enough
for a deep penetration into tribal territory. Without opposition
the column reached Datta Khel, where a jirga of Wazirs accepted
peace terms.

The main Mahsud strongholds were Makin and Kaniguram
in the high central uplands, to which no approach road existed,
and the only feasible access was up the valley and narrow defiles
of the river Takki Zam. On 11 December, a column consisting
of two Indian infantry brigades, under Major General (later
General) Sir Andrew Skeen, advanced from Jandola. After two
months of bitter fighting, especially at the Ahnai Tangi, a narrow
gorge between towering cliffs, Makin was reached by the middle
of February. A few weeks later the column reached its final
objective, Kaniguram; peace terms were accepted by the Mah-
suds; and to ensure their observance a permanent garrison was
established at Ladha near by.

Although peace had been made with the tribesmen, it was a
vague term in Waziristan, and while for a time large scale
attacks ceased, minor attacks and ambushes continued. In the
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next few years the policy which had proved successful in the
Tochi was extended to the rest of Waziristan. Striking forces of
regular troops were based at Razmak and Wana, and strategic
roads constructed to link the Tochi, Central and South Waziri-
stan.

The roads enabled quick concentration against tribes who re-
fused to keep the peace, and also in later years served a nobler
purpose. The tribesmen took very readily to owning and driving
lorries, and the military roads gradually became commercial
highways. When raiding failed to pay, the tribesmen turned to
trade. From the higher mountains wood, and from other parts
sheep, goats, wool, hides, all had a price in the markets of Bannu
and Dera Ismail Khan, and therefore bandits out of work clubbed
together to buy a lorry and engage in trade.

With the British providing free roads, lorries were cheaper
and quicker than slow moving camels, and also safer, as the
long straggling camel caravans were easy to attack. Each time
I returned more tribal lorries were plying; in the wake of the
mobile columns, the roads slowly brought civilisation to Waziri-
stan. When I first arrived tribal lorries were yet to come, and
camels still swayed along the tracks and river beds with their
heavy burdens, as they had done for centuries.

* * *

That was the background when I began life as a subaltern on
the frontier. When John Williams and I reported for duty at
Bannu, the only Gurkhas in the Tochi were two platoons of
3rd Bn. 151st Punjabi Rifles at Idak, and so we were sent to join
that battalion. In a Ford truck we both began the journey up
the Tochi valley, while Flint and the syce had to follow by road
convoy.

The road, strange and exciting, after leaving fertile Bannu
traversed an arid stony tract as far as Saidgi. Marching towards
the hills was a supply convoy of mule carts and pack camels, with
its escort of troops, and heading for Bannu in the opposite direc-
tion a caravan of Wazir camels loaded with firewood, which
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would be traded for food and clothing. The accompanying tribes-
men looked wild and unwashed, but walked with a swagger-
ing gait. To encourage that kind of trade was the best
antidote to raiding, and meant providing safe roads and staging
camps.

Saidgi at the end of a day’s march, the first staging camp, was
perched on a cliff overlooking the River Tochi, at the entry to
the Shinki defile. It was the most unpopular camp in the Tochi,
intensely hot in summer with not a tree or vestige of shade, with
anopheles mosquitoes breeding in the river bed, and a bad
record for malaria. Beyond the camp was a steep ridge of rock,
which rose like a forbidding rampart guarding tribal territory;
those who passed through the Shinki, or gateway, did so at their
peril.

On entering the Shinki defile we left behind the peaceful
villages, and wide cultivated stretches of Bannu District, and
crossed into Waziristan. Visible on the hills overlooking the road
were the sangars (stone breastworks) of the road piquets, which
confirmed that the road was not safe. The tribesmen had no
artillery, sangars were adequate against rifle fire, and easily con-
structed from stones lying everywhere.

Near the exit of the defile was the ‘Beau Geste’ fort of
Khajuri, with mud and stone walls, and towers at the corners.
Soon I was to become the commander of that little fort, which
acted as parent to the road piquets, of which those near by were
occupied during the daytime and those at a distance held
permanently.

In the Tochi valley beyond were the villages of the peaceful
Dauds, bordered on both sides towards the hills by the hamlets
of the less peaceful Wazirs. Where water could be diverted along
channels from the river and streams there was cultivation. With
modern engineering the irrigation could have been greatly in-
creased, and the cultivated area extended as in the settled dis-
tricts, but that was possible only with efficient administration,
unacceptable to the tribesmen. Beyond the belt of cultivation
small herds of camels and goats were grazing on the sparse scrub
and coarse grass. The woolly baby camels looked very attractive
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on long, spindly legs, gambolling near their parents, who
appeared worn out with hard work and scanty fodder.

For several miles the road skirted the north side of the valley,
then climbed a low ridge before dropping into Idak, second
staging camp, our destination and home for several months.
The 3/151st occupied the old fort and some meagre mud huts.
More huts accommodated a squadron of the 31st Lancers, and
empty tents for units in transit completed a typical frontier camp.

The truck deposited us in the fort, which housed the officers
and one company. The mess had none of the luxury of that at
Dehra Dun, comprising two small mud plastered rooms, with
camp furniture designed to fold up, and load on to a mule cart,
or a couple of camels, in minutes.

We went over to the office to report, first to Captain John
Wainwright, the Adjutant, and then to Lt.-Colonel George Renny
the C.O., whom we were soon to know well. John was always
kind and helpful, even to the last joined subaltern, while George,
large and jovial, was popular with his officers, and from them
could count on a ready response. He had two loves in life, first
his family in England, and second the Dogras; he had come from
the 38th Dogras. After briefly checking up on my experience, or
lack of it, the Colonel asked if I played hockey, and I informed
him that I was in the first eleven at the Cadet College. That
pleased him and he called in Lieutenant Roley Ingram-Johnson, the
sports officer, and said, “Bristow plays hockey, try him out this
afternoon”. Roley became a friend for life, and the only member
of the 3/151st with whom I was able to maintain contact
throughout my service, and until he died 49 years later.

I was allotted a small room without windows and like a
dungeon; the old fort was built not for comfort, but to keep out
bandits. My only possessions were one trunk of clothes, a bedding
roll and some camp furniture, but when scattered around, the
dungeon looked quite homely. At the age of nineteen that was
high adventure, and I wanted nothing more.

3/151st Punjabi Rifles struck me as different from 2/9th
Gurkha Rifles, who had long experience with many battle
honours, mature traditions, and a homogeneous composition of
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Gurkhas. The 3/151st was still new, with less than two years’
experience and one battle honour, Palestine 1918. Composed of
drafts from other regiments and six different classes, the battalion
was still in process of becoming a united team. During expansion
of the Indian Army in the First World War, the 3/151st was
one of the last battalions to be raised, which was done in Pales-
tine, where it took a minor part in the last campaign.

For a battalion to have six classes was unusual in the Indian
Army and a wartime accident. It was composed as follows: ‘A’
Company, half Punjabi Mussalmans, half Gurkhas, from the
Guides Infantry; ‘B’ Company, mostly Dogras, a platoon of
Garhwalis, from the 38th Dogras; ‘C’ Company, Punjabi Mussal-
mans from the 59th Scinde Rifles; ‘D’ Company, half Rajputs,
half Ahirs, from the 98th Infantry. Such a rare mixture in one
unit presented a unique opportunity to become acquainted with
several classes of the Indian Army, all different in character
and customs. Because of my connection with Gurkhas I was
posted to ‘A’ Company, commanded by Captain Henry Fag-
nani.

Recently arrived from Palestine, and almost entirely composed
of young officers and soldiers, the battalion was unacquainted
with the frontier and mountain warfare. The only prewar regular
officers were the Colonel and Major Thomas Digby, and it
rested with them to pass on their experience.

Though sad at leaving the 2/9th, I relished the change from
parade ground life in Dehra Dun to that of the frontier, and
even more the beginning of a cold winter, which fully restored
my health. We had a perfect training ground for making troops
hard and fit, and soon I could climb hills with the best.

In ‘A’ Company the Punjabi Mussalmans (P.M.s) and
Gurkhas were an odd combination, as they were quite different
in appearance and character. Though on good terms they did not
mix off duty, and I formed the impression that Gurkhas were
happier in their own one-class regiments. The P.M.s were lean
and tall with sharp features, independent in character, not so
naturally disciplined as the Gurkhas, but brave and reliable
soldiers. They welcomed me by an invitation to a meal, which
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showed that, unlike Hindus they were not defiled by eating with
a Christian.

Our task in Idak was to defend the staging camp, and the
road half way to Saidgi and half way to Dardoni. A large part
of the battalion was employed manning Khajuri Fort and the
permanent road piquets, and when mule cart and pack camel
supply convoys were using the road, the rest of the battalion
moved out to reinforce the road piquets. As every cart or camel
load was a prize worth having to the Pathans, convoys offered a
great temptation to an attack. With the constant danger of
ambush every move by the troops had to be tactically sound,
which provided splendid training for young novices like myself.

Elaborate arrangements were made to protect the camp. On
the overlooking hills were the camp piquets to prevent sniping,
especially at night. Circling the camp was a breast-high stone
wall, protected by two double aprons of barbed wire, and with
a bastion every hundred yards for the perimeter piquets. By day
only some were manned, each mounting a single sentry, but to
guard against a sudden rush at night all the perimeter piquets
were occupied, each mounting two sentries. The huts or tents of
the infantry were near the perimeter, so that it could be manned
in seconds, and every man slept with his rifle beside him. At
sundown the quarter guard bugler sounded retreat, and all stood-
to, to ensure that every man knew his alarm post for the night.

Riding and hockey were the only two recreations available
at Idak, which suited me perfectly. Transport then was on an
animal basis, with hundreds of mules and horses to be exercised,
which was done on a litter track round the perimeter. It was too
dangerous to ride beyond the camp piquets, and gallops had to
be confined to the litter track, but fortunately the cavalry had
some schooling paddocks, in which I spent many pleasant hours
trying to improve Flint’s wild habits. On road protection I
often had to gallop long distances, and he became a vital partner
in my job. As a member of the battalion team I played hockey
regularly, the favourite Indian Army game, and occasionally
we played in tournaments against other teams in Bannu, Saidgi
vnd Dardoni, which made a pleasant change.
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Only once was the whole battalion in action, and it happened
soon after I joined. South of Idak, and across the River Tochi,
a mountain called Zer rises another 1,700 feet above the valley.
Tom Digby had taken ‘C’ Company out for an exercise on the
lower slopes of Zer, but got further away from camp than was
prudent. The ever watchful Tori Khel Wazirs saw their oppor-
tunity, and about fifty of them cut off his line of withdrawal.
He could have fought his way out, but not without heavy
casualties, and wisely helioed to the fort for help. (A helio is a
visual signalling device to reflect the light of the sun, using morse
code.)

On hearing the quarter guard bugler sound the alarm, we
donned our equipment and turbans and ran to the parade
ground, thinking it was a practice; in action British officers wore
turbans like the men to avoid being conspicuous targets. Only
when addressed by the C.O. did we realise that the alarm was
real. After briefly explaining the situation, he detailed an
advanced guard, and the battalion moved towards Zer. On wad-
ing the Tochi and approaching the mountain, we could hear
rifle fire.

The advanced guard secured a knoll at the foot of the slope,
and the battalion moved into its shelter, while the officers followed
the C.O. to the top of the knoll to view the ground and receive
orders. These were for ‘A’ and ‘B’ Companies to attack up a very
steep slope, and secure a ridge to outflank the Wazirs, and for
‘D’ Company to remain in reserve. With many employed on
road and camp piquets, companies were only at half strength. In
the attack I led with the P.M.s on the right, and John Williams
with the Dogras on the left, while Henry Fagnani followed in
support with the Gurkhas.

The Wazirs soon re-acted to our attack, and moving away
from ‘C’ company appeared in increasing numbers on the ridge
which was our objective. Their fire was not very accurate and
mostly went overhead, but occasionally one of our men was
hit. As we were without artillery or even mortar support it was a
fight between riflemen, in which the Wazirs had the great advan-
tage of height. As we closed the gap there was much abusive
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yelling by the Wazirs, to which the P.M.s and Dogras replied with
their own stirring war cries; a kind of war of nerves.

John and I reached the line where, according to the book,
you fix bayonets and charge; and therefore behind convenient
boulders, we formed up to assault. I noticed that the old Dogra
Subedar Major, Jai Singh I.D.S.M,, leaving the safety of his
proper place with battalion headquarters, had joined us. With
revolver drawn and encouraging his Dogras, he intended to
charge with them, and so set an inspiring example. To our
surprise firing by the Wazirs slackened, and they could be seen
pulling out carrying some casualties; the gleam of bayonets had
decided the war of nerves in our favour. Just as we were about
to charge the ridge Henry arrived out of breath, having run up
the hill, and ordered a withdrawal, an anticlimax.

Apparently we had drawn the Wazirs off ‘C’ Company, who
were now clear, and had achieved our aim. As peace terms had
only just been accepted by the Tochi Wazirs, George Renny did
not wish to be held responsible for trailing his coat on Zer and
restarting the war, which might have happened had he lingered
there, and allowed the Tori Khel to gather for a major clash.
With heavy fighting continuing in South Waziristan, peace in
the Tochi was most desirable, and so having rescued ‘C’ Com-
pany, George decided to withdraw. To our surprise, the tribes-
men did not follow up according to tradition; they had had
enough.

On the way back I was passing through a patch of tall reeds
in the river bed, when I heard a shout and a shot a few yards
ahead. On running forward I saw a jubilant little Garhwali
standing over a prostrate, wild looking Wazir, who was breathing
his last. To get a rifle, and armed only with a large dagger, that
foolhardy man had concealed himself in the path of withdrawal
of a whole battalion; luckily for him the Garhwali had seen him
in time.

George was delighted with his minor battle, and the experience
gave a new battalion more confidence. No mistakes had been
made, and ‘C’ Company had been extricated from a dangerous
trap, which might have cost many more casualties than the few
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incurred. It was the first time many of us had been under fire,
the best training of all. Subedar Khan Bahadur and the P.M.s
of ‘A’ Company held a victory dinner, at which I was a guest
of honour, and felt very elated.

The Political Tehsildar at Idak, our source of intelligence, re-
ported that the Tori Khel lost several men on Zer, and true to
the Pathan law of badal, intended to take revenge. We did
not have long to wait. On road open days a platoon went out
from Idak along the Bannu road, established a piquet at mile-
stone 25 where the high ground ends, and another at milestone
24 in the valley beyond. They were both kept under observation
from the permanent piquet on Hill 3176 north of the road. Soon
after the encounter on Zer, the permanent piquet helioed that
the further road piquet had been ambushed.

In camp a British officer and one platoon of 35 men were kept
at short notice to move in emergency, and on that day I hap-
pened to be on duty with a platoon of Dogras. We ran the two
miles to the nearer road piquet, and panting by my side was old
Subedar Fateh Singh. Looking down the road we could see
and hear the survivors holding off the Wazirs, and so, making use
of cover, we spread out and stalked forward to engage them.

As we drew close a fire fight developed, and soon the tribes-
men began to fall back northwards towards the Mir Ali hills,
carrying some casualties. At that stage the Squadron of 31st
Lancers arrived, dismounted and took up a position away to our
left, from where they could harass the retreating Wazirs by fire.
I was disappointed not to see a cavalry charge, but the ground
was too broken. That was the only time that I saw horse cavalry
in action, and felt that horses w